

1

Interspecific behavioural interference and range dynamics: current insights and future directions

Christophe W. Patterson* ¹⁰ and Jonathan P. Drury*

Department of Biosciences, Durham University, Stockton Road, Durham, DH1 3LE, UK

ABSTRACT

Novel biotic interactions in shifting communities play a key role in determining the ability of species' ranges to track suitable habitat. To date, the impact of biotic interactions on range dynamics have predominantly been studied in the context of interactions between different trophic levels or, to a lesser extent, exploitative competition between species of the same trophic level. Yet, both theory and a growing number of empirical studies show that interspecific behavioural interference, such as interspecific territorial and mating interactions, can slow down range expansions, preclude coexistence, or drive local extinction, even in the absence of resource competition. We conducted a systematic review of the current empirical research into the consequences of interspecific behavioural interference on range dynamics. Our findings demonstrate there is abundant evidence that behavioural interference by one species can impact the spatial distribution of another. Furthermore, we identify several gaps where more empirical work is needed to test predictions from theory robustly. Finally, we outline several avenues for future research, providing suggestions for how interspecific behavioural interference could be incorporated into existing scientific frameworks for understanding how biotic interactions influence range expansions, such as species distribution models, to build a stronger understanding of the potential consequences of behavioural interference on the outcome of future range dynamics.

Key words: interspecific behavioural interference, reproductive interference, interspecific aggression, range dynamics, systematic review, elevational gradients, invasion biology, range shift.

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	2
II.	Systematic literature review	3
	(1) Methods	. 3
	(2) Reproductive interference <i>versus</i> interspecific aggression	. 4
	(3) Elevational gradients	. 7
	(4) Invasion biology	. 8
	(5) Empirical validation of theoretical predictions	. 8
III.	Future directions	.10
	(1) Identifying the impact of behavioural interference on historical spatial processes	10
	(2) Predicting the impact of behavioural interference in novel assemblages	10
	(3) The role of evolution in mediating responses to behavioural interference	12
IV.	Conclusions	.12
V.	Acknowledgements	.13
VI.	References	.13
VII.	Supporting information	. 16

^{*} Authors for correspondence: C. W. Patterson (E-mail: christophe.patterson@durham.ac.uk) and J. P Drury (Tel.: +44 (0) 191 33 41348; E-mail: jonathan.p.drury@durham.ac.uk).

Biological Reviews (2023) 000–000 © 2023 The Authors. *Biological Reviews* published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

I. INTRODUCTION

As anthropogenic changes continue to alter the availability and distribution of habitats, the spatial distribution of species' niches will shift, in turn driving shifts in species' ranges (Parmesan & Yohe, 2003). Given that species vary in their niches and in their responses to environmental change, communities will not shift in concert, resulting in a global reshuffling of diversity and the formation of novel species assemblages. Similarly, invasions due to anthropogenic factors can have disruptive effects on species assemblages. Interactions between species - whether between previously coexisting species or between newly co-occurring species in shifting communities - play key roles in determining the ability of species' ranges to track suitable habitats (Alexander, Diez & Levine, 2015; Blois et al., 2013; Early & Keith, 2019; Ockendon et al., 2014). For instance, the arrival of novel predators can drive prey species to extinction (e.g. brown tree snakes Boiga irregularis drove the local extinction of several bird species after they were introduced to Guam; Savidge, 1987); conversely, the local extinction of one species can destabilise interaction networks, driving secondary extinctions [e.g. experimental removal of a keystone predator (Pisaster ochraceus) led to a decline in diversity in the marine intertidal zone; Paine 1966]. By and large, studies on the impacts of biotic interactions on population and range dynamics have predominantly focused on interactions across trophic levels or, to a lesser extent, on exploitative competition between species of the same trophic level (Sirén & Morelli, 2020; Early & Keith, 2019; Louthan, Doak & Angert, 2015; Svenning et al., 2014; Legault et al., 2020; Ortego & Knowles, 2020).

Yet an important type of competition between closely related animal species is often overlooked: interspecific behavioural interference (Grether et al., 2017). Behavioural interference encompasses any aggressive or mating behaviour by one species that is directed towards and has a negative impact on the fitness of another species (Grether et al., 2017; Gröning & Hochkirch, 2008; Burdfield-Steel & Shuker, 2011). For instance, both territorial aggression between individuals of different species and courtship displays directed by males of one species towards females of another species fall under the umbrella of behavioural interference. Behavioural interference has been documented across a wide range of taxa (Gröning & Hochkirch, 2008; Peiman & Robinson, 2010), and in general, such aggressive and sexual interactions arise between species that are phenotypically and ecologically similar owing to recent shared ancestry (e.g. species with similar sexual signals and/or perceptual systems), although in some cases, behavioural interference may occur across large phylogenetic distances (e.g. indiscriminate aggression from noisy miners Manorina melanocephala towards a broad range of bird species throughout much of Australia; Mac Nally et al., 2012; Fig. 1C). Such interactions are costly and lead to decreased fitness as individuals waste energy, are driven to use suboptimal habitat, or miss out on mating opportunities with conspecifics.

Consequently, behavioural interference can decrease population growth rates, cause exclusion from adequate habitat, and reduce or prevent dispersal into novel areas (Grether *et al.*, 2017). Thus, interspecific behavioural interference is likely to have important impacts on range dynamics.

Several theoretical investigations of behavioural interference have modelled the factors that promote or preclude coexistence (Case & Gilpin, 1974; Kuno, 1992; Liou & Price, 1994; Amarasekare, 2002; Mikami & Kawata, 2004; Kishi & Nakazawa, 2013; Kvogoku & Sota, 2017; Iritani & Noriyuki, 2021; Irwin & Schluter, 2022; Grether & Okamoto, 2022) and a handful have even explicitly analysed how processes affecting coexistence locally scale up to influence the outcome of movement across landscapes (Ribeiro & Spielman, 1986; Crowder et al., 2011; Nishida, Takakura & Iwao, 2015; Ruokolainen & Hanski, 2016; Legault et al., 2020). One key insight from these models is that the impact of interspecific behavioural interference will be highest on rarer species, and the magnitude of this impact increases as the asymmetry in frequency increases (e.g. Amarasekare, 2002; Kuno, 1992), i.e. as interactions between the rarer species and heterospecifics become increasingly more common than interactions with conspecifics. Consequently, Allee effects resulting from behavioural interference may make it very difficult for viable populations to become established in novel geographic areas (Grether et al., 2017) or may drive precipitous local extinction once population densities fall below a certain threshold. A common result in models incorporating behavioural interference is the formation and maintenance of abutting (parapatric) range limits, which may move according to the magnitude of and degree of asymmetry in interference (Ribeiro & Spielman, 1986; Nishida et al., 2015). Another insight from these models relates to the interactive effect of resource competition and behavioural interference - several models show that the dynamics of systems with both resource competition and behavioural interference are markedly different than systems with resource competition alone (Ribeiro & Spielman, 1986; Amarasekare, 2002; Crowder et al., 2011), which underscores the importance of further research into behavioural interference in attempts to predict species responses to shifting assemblages.

Insights derived from theory about the impact of behavioural interference on range dynamics are now backed up by a growing body of empirical research. Interspecific behavioural interference has been shown to impact a range of spatial dynamics, ranging from local-scale habitat use (Vallin *et al.*, 2012) to large-scale range limit shifts (Duckworth & Badyaev, 2007). Here we present the results of the first synthesis of this body of work through a systematic literature review, and, in light of the widespread evidence that behavioural interference impacts range dynamics, we discuss patterns emerging from existing studies, highlight key gaps in the literature, and suggest several avenues for future research.



Fig. 1. There is widespread evidence that behavioural interference (costly aggressive or reproductive interactions between species) influences spatial dynamics in animals. (A) Study systems that directly measured the impact of interspecific behavioural interference on the spatial distribution of one of more species by phylum, class, and whether the study covered aggressive or reproductive behavioural interference, or both. All study systems investigated the impact of intraclass behavioural interference, except for one case of interphylum behavioural interference between a crustacean and actinopterygians (Bubb et al., 2009). The interphylum system is counted here in Crustacea as the crustacean was the more aggressive species. Sankey diagram created using the R package ggsankey (https://github.com/davidsjoberg/ggsankey). (B) In Thailand, white-handed gibbons (Hylobates lar) (left) and pileated gibbons (Hylobates pileatus) (right) are interspecifically territorial at their parapatric range boundary, reinforcing that boundary and, likely, decreasing the frequency of hybridisation (Asensio et al., 2017). (C) Indiscriminate hyperaggression of noisy miners (Manorina melanocephala) has led to shift in the structure of avian communities (Mac Nally et al., 2012). (D) In Japan, the invasive bumblebee Bombus terrestris (left) engages in reproductive interference with two species of native bumblebee species, driving rapid declines in B. ignities (right) and B. h. sapporeenis (Tsuchida et al., 2019). (E) The accidental introduction of guppies (Poecilia reticulata) (left) led to the eradication of invasive mosquitofish (Gambusia affinis) (right) in Okinawa owing to reproductive interference, and consequently guppies have been proposed as a potential control agent for mosquitofish elsewhere (Tsurui-Sato et al., 2019). (F) Pied flycatchers (Ficedula hypoleuca) (left) are driven to use sub-optimal habitat by the high aggression of collared flycatchers (Ficedula albicollis) (right) (Vallin et al., 2012; Rybinski et al., 2016). All photographs reproduced under creative commons by Wikimedia-user:Kongkham6211, [] Harrison, flickr-user:coniferconifer, Vera Buhl, Rex Boggs, Andrej Chudý, Ron Knight, Holger Krisp, and Wikimedia-user:Fredlyfish4.

II. SYSTEMATIC LITERATURE REVIEW

(1) Methods

To identify examples of interspecific behavioural interference influencing the spatial distribution of a species, we conducted a literature search using the 'all databases' option in Web of Science (https://www.webofscience.com/). We used the search term 'TS=(((behaviour* OR behavior*) NEAR/6 interference) OR (reproduct* NEAR/6 interference) OR (interspecific NEAR/6 (behaviour* OR behavior*) NEAR/6 competition) OR

((interspecific OR heterospecific) NEAR/6 aggress*) OR ((interspecific OR heterospecific) NEAR/6 dominan*) OR ((interspecific OR heterospecific) NEAR/6 territor*) OR ((interspecific OR heterospecific) NEAR/6 interference) OR (sister AND (taxa OR species) AND (competition OR aggress* OR territor* OR dominan* OR interference))) AND TS= ((range* NEAR/6 shift*) OR (species NEAR/6 distribution*) OR (range* NEAR/6 expansion*) OR (range* NEAR/6 dynamic*) OR (species NEAR/6 displace*) OR (species NEAR/6 replace*) OR (Altitud* NEAR/6 (zonat* OR zone)))' (NEAR/6 returns search results that contain the first phrase within six words of the later phrase). While we designed this set of search terms to focus on behavioural interference, we note that hybridisation falls under the general umbrella term of 'reproductive interference'. There is a large, related literature covering the spatial dynamics of hybrid zones (Barton, 1979; Barton & Hewitt, 1989; Buggs, 2007), which focuses on the way that clines form in the presence of selection acting on hybrid genotypes. Here, however, we focus on the outcome of reproductive behavioural interactions per se, regardless of whether those interactions result in the formation of hybrids. We note that, although some treatments of reproductive interference include aggression in the context of access to mates (e.g. Groning & Hochkirch, 2008), we follow recent literature on behavioural interference in classifying all agonistic interactions directed towards heterospecifics as agonistic interference (Grether et al., 2017).

As of the search date (13 October 2022), we obtained a database of 338 unique peer-reviewed articles, which both authors contributed to reading and extracting data from. To reduce bias in data extraction between readers, the first 37 papers (10%) were independently read by both of us and data extraction compared. Across all 37 papers, the interpretation of the paper and data extracted was concordant. We only included cases for which there are direct observations of interspecific behavioural interference and an explicit link between that interference and spatial dynamics, which totalled 72 papers in our final set. For instance, in cases where species have abutting boundaries (e.g. parapatric range limits), we only included cases where behavioural interference has been documented and this boundary does not also coincide with clear shifts in habitat types. Similarly, for instances of microhabitat segregation or mosaic distribution patterns, we required the study to demonstrate that shifts in habitat use result directly from behavioural interference. While reading these papers, we also noted papers that the authors cited as further evidence for behavioural interference and/or range dynamics within their own or other study systems, which added 26 additional papers to our final set. Of the 98 studies in our final set, 62 studies provided clear evidence that interspecific behavioural interference impacts the spatial distribution of a species, with 19 additional studies providing corroborating evidence in combination with other papers. The remaining papers either found no effect (N = 15) or were inconclusive ($\mathcal{N} = 2$). The 81 papers that either provide evidence directly or in collaboration with other studies found clear evidence in favour of interspecific behavioural interference impacting the spatial distribution of a species and were

sorted into 54 unique study systems (Fig. 1A, Table 1; see online Supporting Information, Table S1, for additional information for each of the 54 study systems).

(2) Reproductive interference *versus* interspecific aggression

Our search terms returned more study systems where aggressive interference (\mathcal{N} = 44) influenced range dynamics than reproductive interference (\mathcal{N} = 17) (Fig. 1A, Table 1, Table S1). At face value, these figures suggest that competitive exclusion *via* aggressive interference is more widespread than sexual exclusion. Yet, this conclusion may be premature. For one thing, we avoided searching for cases of hybrid tension zones (see Section II.1), and hybridisation is among the more highly studied forms of reproductive interference. Moreover, reproductive interference also includes behaviours such as misdirected courtship, signal jamming, and heterospecific mating (Groning & Hochkirch, 2008), all of which are difficult to detect, especially in species where these processes occur rapidly.

Seven study systems found that both reproductive interference and aggression influence range dynamics. For instance, where collared (Ficedula albicollis) and pied (Ficedula hypoleuca) flycatchers have recently (150 years ago) come into sympatry (Fig. 1F), collared flycatchers are more aggressive, which shifts the nest occupancy of pied flycatchers into suboptimal habitat. However, pied flycatchers that nest in suboptimal habitat are less likely to hybridise with collared flycatchers, which reinforces the habitat segregation of the two species (Vallin et al., 2012). Given that interspecific aggression often arises as an adaptive response to reproductive interference (Drury et al., 2015; Drury, Cowen & Grether, 2020; Grether et al., 2020; Payne, 1980), the abundance of examples of aggressive interference influencing spatial dynamics in vertebrates may be indicative of undetected reproductive interference. Further empirical and theoretical work would help clarify the relative importance as well as the interactive, potentially non-additive, impacts of different types of behavioural interference on spatial dynamics.

The taxonomic distribution of case studies was the most apparent difference among the factors associated with different types of behavioural interference (Fig. 1A). Most examples of reproductive interference influencing range dynamics were conducted on arthropods (9 out of 10). This contrasts with studies of aggressive interference which were dominated by vertebrates (30 out of 37), especially birds ($\mathcal{N} = 17$). Empirical examples of reproductive interference are taxonomically widespread (Gröning & Hochkirch, 2008), so it is surprising to find that evidence of reproductive interference influencing the spatial dynamics of a species comes predominantly from insects and arachnids. One potential explanation for this apparent bias is that it reflects a biological reality about the costs of reproductive interference in arthropods; the fitness cost of reproductive interference may be especially high in arthropods because of females' short reproductive lifespans, and, because in some species, females produce no viable offspring after interspecific mating (Ribeiro & Spielman, 1986), which

Table 1. The 54 study systems identified during the literature review that found clear evidence that interspecific behavioural interference (IBI) impacts the spatial distribution of a species. An expanded table which includes a description of each study system is provided in Table S1. The 'Elevational' column indicates whether the study investigated range dynamics across an elevational gradient. The 'Invasion' column indicates whether the study contained a species outside of its native range. The 'Comparative' column indicates whether the study examined variation in behavioural interference across many species and/or environments. Y/N, yes/no.

Interacting species	IBI type	Elevational (Y/N)	Invasion (Y/N)	Comparative (Y/N)	References
Aves					
Great reed warblers (Acrocephalus arundinaceus) & marsh warblers (Acrocephalus palustris)	Aggression	Ν	Ν	Ν	Rolando & Palestrini (1989)
Bicknell's thrushes (<i>Catharus bicknelli</i>) & Swainson's thrushes (<i>Catharus ustulatus</i>)	Aggression	Y	Ν	Ν	Freeman & Montgomery (2015)
Black-headed nightingale thrushes (<i>Catharus</i> <i>mexicanus</i>) & ruddy-capped nightingale-thrushes (<i>Catharus frantzi</i>)	Aggression	Y	Ν	Ν	Jones <i>et al.</i> (2020)
Collared (<i>Ficedula albicollis</i>) & pied (<i>Ficedula hypoleuca</i>) flycatchers	Aggression	Ν	Ν	Ν	Vallin <i>et al.</i> (2012); Rybinski <i>et al.</i> (2016)
Several species of wood wrens (<i>Henicorhina leucophrys</i> & <i>Henicorhina leucosticta</i>) and thrushes (<i>Catharus</i> <i>mexicanus & Catharus aurantiirostris</i>) along an elevational gradient in Costa Bica	Aggression	Y	Ν	Ν	Jankowski et al. (2010)
Narrow-billed woodcreepers (<i>Lepidocolaptes</i> angustirostris) & scaled woodcreepers (<i>Lepidocolaptes</i> sauamatus)	Aggression	Ν	Ν	Ν	Maldonado-Coelho et al. (2017)
Common nightingales (Luscinia megarhynchos) & thrush nightingales (Luscinia luscinia)	Aggression	Ν	Ν	Ν	Sorjonen (1986); Reif et al. (2015, 2018)
Noisy miners (<i>Manorina melanocephala</i>) & local bird assemblages	Aggression	Ν	Ν	Ν	Mac Nally <i>et al.</i> (2012); Lill & Muscat (2015)
Flame robins (<i>Petroica phoenicea</i>) & Norfolk robins (<i>Petroica multicolor</i>)	Aggression	Ν	Ν	Ν	Robinson (1992)
Carolina chickadees (<i>Poecile carolinensis</i>) and black- capped chickadees (<i>Poecile atricapillus</i>)	Aggression and reproductive interference	Ν	Ν	Ν	Bronson <i>et al.</i> (2003); McQuillan & Rice (2015)
Invasive ring-necked <i>parakeets</i> (<i>Psittacula krameri</i>) and native communities	Aggression	Ν	Y	Ν	Hernández-Brito <i>et al.</i> (2014)
Townsend's warblers (<i>Setophaga townsendi</i>) and hermit warblers (<i>Setophaga occidentalis</i>)	Aggression and reproductive interference	Ν	Ν	Ν	Pearson (2000); Pearson & Rohwer (2000)
Western bluebirds (<i>Sialia mexicana</i>) & mountain bluebirds (<i>Sialia currucoides</i>)	Aggression	Ν	Ν	Ν	Duckworth & Badyaev (2007); Duckworth (2013); Duckworth <i>et al.</i> (2015)
Spotted owls (Strix occidentalis) & barred owls (Strix varia)	Aggression	Ν	Y	Ν	(Gutiérrez <i>et al.</i> (2007); Van Lanen <i>et al.</i> (2011); Wiens, <i>et al.</i> (2014)
Dominant and subordinate congeneric birds in urban environments	Aggression	Ν	Ν	Y	Martin & Bonier (2018); Martin <i>et al.</i> (2021)
Dominant and subordinate birds from North America	Aggression	Ν	Ν	Υ	Freshwater et al. (2014)
Birds along an elevational gradient in Borneo North American perching birds (passerines)	Aggression Aggression and reproductive interference	Y N	N N	Y Y	Boyce & Martin (2019) Cowen <i>et al.</i> (2020)
Birds along an elevational gradient in Papua New Guinea	Aggression	Y	Ν	Y	Freeman <i>et al.</i> (2016)
Amphibia Southern Appalachian salamander (<i>Plethodon</i> <i>teyahalee</i>) & red-cheeked salamanders (<i>Plethodon</i> <i>jordani</i>)	Aggression	Y	Ν	N	Hairston <i>et al.</i> (1987); Gifford & Kozak (2012)

(Continues on next page)

Biological Reviews (2023) 000-000 © 2023 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

1469185x, 0, Downloaded from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.12993 by Test, Wiley Online Library on [14/08/2023]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/etms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons License

Table	1.	(Cont.)
Table	1.	(Cont.

Interacting species	IBI type	Elevational (Y/N)	Invasion (Y/N)	Comparative (Y/N)	References
Actinopterygii Damselfish (<i>Dischistodus</i> spp.) in the Great Barrier Reef	Aggression	Ν	N	Ν	Bay et al. (2001)
Guppies (Poecilia reticulata) & mosquitofish (Gambusia affinis)	Reproductive interference	Ν	Y	Ν	Tsurui-Sato et al. (2019)
Obscure damselfish (<i>Pomacentrus adelus</i>) & speckled damselfish (<i>Pomacentrus bankanensis</i>)	Aggression	Ν	Ν	Ν	Eurich et al. (2018)
Invasive brown trout (<i>Salmo trutta</i>) & white-spotted charr (<i>Salvelinus leucomaenis</i>) in Japan	Aggression	Ν	Y	Ν	Takami <i>et al.</i> (2002); Hasegawa <i>et al.</i> (2004); Hasegawa & Maekawa (2009)
Gopher rockfish (<i>Sebastes carnatus</i>) & black- and-yellow rockfish (<i>Sebastes chrysomelas</i>) Arachnida	Aggression	Ν	Ν	Ν	Larson (1980)
Invasive sheet-web spiders (<i>Linyphia triangularis</i>) & bowl-and-doily spiders (<i>Frontinella communis</i>)	Aggression	Ν	Y	Ν	Houser et al. (2014)
Copepoda Skistodiaptomus copepods	Reproductive interference	Ν	Ν	Ν	Thum (2007)
Crustacea Invasive rusty crayfish (Orconectes rusticus) and native Sanborn crayfish (Orconectes sanborni)	Aggression and reproductive interference	Ν	Y	Ν	Butler & Stein (1985)
Invasive signal crayfish (<i>Pacifastacus leniusculus</i>) in Europe & native communities. This includes an example of interphylum behavioural interference: aggression by signal crayfish toward native bullhead fish (<i>Cottus gobio</i>).	Aggression and reproductive interference	Ν	Y	Ν	Söderbäck (1994, 1995); Westman & Savolainen (2001); Westman <i>et al.</i> (2002); Bubb <i>et al.</i> (2009); Svärdson <i>et al.</i> (1991)
Gastropoda Keyhole limpets (<i>Siphonaria lessonii</i>) & pulmonate limpets (<i>Fissurella crassa</i>)	Aggression	Ν	Ν	Ν	Aguilera & Navarrete (2012)
Insecta Aedes mosquitos (Ae. albopictus & Ae. aegypti)	Reproductive interference	Ν	Y	Ν	Nasci et al. (1989); Bargielowski et al. (2013); Bargielowski & Lounibos (2016); Lounibos & Juliano (2018); Zhou et al.
Two tick species (Amblyomma variegatum & Amblyomma	Reproductive	Ν	Ν	Ν	(2022) Bournez <i>et al.</i> (2015)
Whiteflies (<i>Bemisia tabaci</i> spp.)	Reproductive interference	Ν	Y	Ν	Liu <i>et al.</i> (2007); Crowder <i>et al.</i> (2011);
Invasive buff-tailed bumblebees (Bombus terrestris) & native bumblebees (Bombus hypocrita sapporoensis & Bombus ignitus) in Japan	Reproductive interference	Ν	Y	Ν	Tsuchida <i>et al.</i> (2012)
Rubyspot damselflies (Hetaerina spp.)	Aggression	Ν	Ν	Y	McEachin et al. (2022)
Two ant species (<i>Iridomyrmex</i> spp.) Arboreal termite species in Papua New Guinea (<i>Microcerotermes biroi, Nasutitermes novarumhebridiarum</i> & Nasutitermes princeps)	Aggression Aggression	N N	N N	N Y	Haering & Fox (1987) Leponce <i>et al.</i> (1997)
White-crossed seed bugs (<i>Neacoryphus bicrurus</i>) and co-occurring insect communities	Aggression and reproductive	Ν	Ν	Ν	McLain & Shure (1987)
Invasive southern green stink bugs (<i>Nezara viridula</i>) & native green stink bugs (<i>Nezara antennata</i>)	Interference Reproductive interference	Ν	Y	Ν	Kiritani (2011)

1469185x, 0, Downloaded from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.12993 by Test, Wiley Online Library on [14082023]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/etms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons License

Biological Reviews (2023) 000-000 © 2023 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

Table	1.	(Cont.)
-------	----	---------

Interacting species	IBI type Reproductive interference	Elevational (Y/N) N	Invasion (Y/N) N	Comparative (Y/N) N	References Dorková <i>et al.</i> (2020)
Alpine dark bush-crickets (<i>Pholidoptera aptera</i>) & Transylvanian dark bush-crickets (<i>Pholidoptera</i> <i>transsylvanica</i>)					
Eastern subterranean termites (<i>Reticulitermes flavipes</i>) & Western subterranean termites (<i>Reticulitermes grassei</i>)	Aggression	Ν	Y	Ν	Perdereau et al. (2011)
Invasive Asian blue ticks [<i>Rhipicephalus (Boophilus)</i> microplus] & African blue ticks [<i>Rhipicephalus</i> (<i>Boophilus</i>) decoloratus] in South Africa	Reproductive interference	Ν	Y	Ν	Sutherst (1987); Tønnesen <i>et al.</i> (2004)
Cepero's groundhoppers (<i>Tetrix ceperoi</i>) & slender groundhoppers (<i>Tetrix subulata</i>)	Reproductive interference	Ν	Ν	Ν	Gröning <i>et al.</i> (2007); Hochkirch, <i>et al.</i> (2007); Hochkirch & Gröning (2012)
Arboreal ant species in Papua New Guinea	Aggression	Ν	Ν	Y	Mottl et al. (2021)
Fallow deer (<i>Dama dama</i>) & roe deer (<i>Capreolus</i> cabreolus)	Aggression	Ν	Y	Ν	Ferretti & Mori (2020)
White-handed gibbons (<i>Hylobates lar</i>) & pileated gibbons (<i>Hylobates pileatus</i>)	Aggression	Ν	Ν	Ν	Suwanvecho & Brockelman (2012); Asensio <i>et al.</i> (2017)
Least chipmunks (<i>Neotamias minimus</i>) & yellow-pine chipmunks (<i>Neotamias amoenus</i>)	Aggression	Y	Ν	Ν	Heller (1971); Chappell (1978)
Townsend's chipmunks (Neotamias townsendii) & vellow-pine chipmunks (Neotamias amoenus)	Aggression	Ν	Ν	Ν	Trombulak (1985)
Uinta chipmunks (Neotamias umbrinus) & Colorado chipmunks (Neotamias quadrivittatus)	Aggression	Y	Ν	Ν	Bergstrom (1992)
Stoats (Mustela erminea) & least weasels (Mustela nivalis)	Aggression	Ν	Ν	Ν	Erlinge & Sandell (1988)
Pied tamarins (Saguinus bicolor) & golden-handed tamarins (Saguinus midas)	Aggression	Ν	Ν	Ν	Sobroza et al. (2021)
Chiriquí singing mice (<i>Scotinomys xerampelinus</i>) & Alston's singing mice (<i>Scotinomys teguina</i>)	Aggression	Y	Ν	Ν	Pasch <i>et al.</i> (2013)
Keptina Invasive house geckos (<i>Hemidactylus frenatus</i>) & native communities	Aggression and reproductive interference	Ν	Y	Ν	Bolger & Case (1992); Petren <i>et al.</i> (1993); Case <i>et al.</i> (1994); Dame & Petren (2006)

makes a species particularly vulnerable to local extinction (Irwin & Schluter, 2022). Alternatively, the bias may reflect the methodological convenience of working with invertebrates – reproductive interference may be hard to measure in the field without experimental mating trials, making larger scale field research of the sort necessary to build a link between reproductive interference and range dynamics more feasible on arthropods.

(3) Elevational gradients

Range dynamics along elevational gradients have long been of interest to ecologists and evolutionary biologists. For instance, a classic hypothesis posits that abiotic factors are likely to play a more important role than biotic factors at high-elevation range limits (Louthan, Doak & Angert, 2015). As a result, there may be an increased risk of extinction in montane ecosystems caused by the 'escalator to extinction' (Sekercioglu et al., 2008; Freeman et al., 2018) in which warming conditions cause the climate niches of highelevation species to disappear. Given the interest in biotic interactions along elevational gradients, it is not surprising that we identified multiple examples of interspecific behavioural interference of one species influencing the elevational distribution of another species (17% of cases documenting an impact of behavioural interference on range dynamics). Due to rapid habitat turnover with altitude, range boundaries across an elevational gradient are often sharply defined, making studies of range limits inherently simpler along an elevational gradient (Žagar et al., 2015; Pasch, Bolker & Phelps, 2013; Jones et al., 2020), so it would be premature to draw conclusions on the relative importance of behavioural interference on elevational range limits in comparison to range boundaries across landscape scales.

Several key patterns emerge from studies along elevational gradients. First, interspecific territoriality plays a key role in creating and maintaining elevational range limits. Comparative analyses, for instance, have shown that bird species have wider elevational ranges in mountains without competitors (Burner et al., 2020). Additionally, the response of several species of montane birds to heterospecific songs decreases with distance from their parapatric boundary, indicating a learned response to the presence of an aggressive congener (Jankowski, Robinson & Levey, 2010; Freeman & Montgomery, 2015; Freeman, Class Freeman & Hochachka, 2016; Jones et al., 2020; Boyce & Martin, 2019). Secondly, asymmetries in dominance are not consistently biased in favour of lowelevation species, as there are examples of species pairs with subordinate high-elevation species (e.g. Catharus thrushes; Freeman & Montgomery, 2015) and of pairs in which the lower elevation species is subordinate [e.g. Scotinomys singing mice (Pasch et al., 2013), Neotamias chipmunks (Bergstrom, 1992) and, if aquatic depth gradients are comparable to elevational gradients, Pomacentrus damselfish (Eurich, McCormick & Jones, 2018)] (see also Freeman, 2020). These examples demonstrate the varied and often unpredictable role that behavioural interference can play in influencing elevational range limits, thereby challenging the hypothesis that abiotic factors are likely to play a more important role than biotic factors at high-elevation range limits (Louthan et al., 2015). Finally, we also note a bias in the geographic locations of studies investigating behavioural interference across elevational gradients, with two exceptions in Borneo and Papua New Guinea, all study systems were located in northern and Central America (Fig. 2). Studies across landscapes were found across a wider area, but still with noted gaps in Africa and Asia, likely due to an underlying geographic bias in scientific research (Culumber et al., 2019).

(4) Invasion biology

Anthropogenic influences have led to a dramatic rise in the number of non-native species that become invasive after being translocated to novel regions (Blackburn *et al.*, 2011). As the ranges of invasive species expand they may engage in interspecific behavioural interference, driving displacement of native species (Rowles & O'Dowd, 2007; Lounibos & Juliano, 2018; Pereira, Lourenço & Mota, 2020; Kyogoku & Sota, 2017). The systematic review identified multiple examples of invasive species engaging in reproductive interference (Tsurui-Sato et al., 2019; Lounibos & Juliano, 2018; Tsuchida et al., 2019; Tønnesen et al., 2004; Westman, Savolainen & Julkunen, 2002) and aggressive interference (Bubb et al., 2009; Houser, Ginsberg & Jakob, 2014; Westman et al., 2002; Rowles & O'Dowd, 2007) with native species (15/54 = 28% of cases). For instance, invading Argentine ants in Australia outcompete native ant species through direct aggressive interactions (Rowles & O'Dowd, 2007). Similarly, in Japan, invasive buff-tailed bumblebees (Bombus terrestris) engage in reproductive interference with two species of native bumblebee

species (Fig. 1D). Copulation between male B. terrestris and female Bombus hypocrita sapporoensis or Bombus ignitus results in unviable eggs being laid the following spring when there are no further intraspecific mating opportunities. Consequently, B. ignitus and B. h. sapporoensis have declined rapidly in areas with B. terrestris, and further declines could lead to the extinction of the native bumblebee species (Tsuchida et al., 2019). Other well-established cases where invading lineages quickly replace previously established lineages include the replacement of asexual gecko lineages throughout the Pacific due to interference from invasive Asian house geckos, Hemidactylus frenatus (Dame & Petren, 2006; Bolger & Case, 1992; Petren, Bolger & Case, 1993), and the replacement of Aedes aegypti by Ae. albopictus both throughout the southern USA (Nasci, Hare & Willis, 1989) and in China (Zhou et al., 2022).

Yet, behavioural interference is not always beneficial to invasive species and detrimental to native species. Invasive species may be unable to establish in areas that contain a more aggressive congener, and higher levels of aggressive or reproductive interference could allow native species to tolerate the presence of the invading species (Crowder et al., 2011), or even prevent its spread. For instance Australian house geckos, Gehyra dubia, are more aggressive than the globally invasive Asian house gecko which could prevent the invasive species replacing the native (Cisterne, Schwarzkopf & Pike, 2019). Additionally, conservation efforts towards the critically endangered Nashville crayfish, Orconectes shoupi, may be aided by its higher aggression toward the invasive bigclaw crayfish, Orconectes placid (Bizwell & Mattingly, 2010). Whether asymmetries in behavioural interference generally influence the outcome of translocations of animal species is, therefore, an important open question.

In addition to being a potentially accelerating factor in biological invasions, behavioural interference has also been suggested as a management tool for invasive species. On Okinawa, for instance, the accidental introduction of guppies (Poecilia reticulata) led to the eradication of invasive mosquitofish (Gambusia affinis) (Fig. 1E; Tsurui-Sato et al., 2019). Laboratory experiments indicate that male guppies attempt to mate with female mosquitofish, thereby reducing their reproductive output. Introduced guppies also have negative impacts on native taxa, but by introducing only males, or mixed populations into environments with lethal winter temperatures, guppies could be used to eradicate mosquito fish from other river systems (Tsurui-Sato et al., 2019). Similarly, a study on aggression between invasive brown trout (Salmo trutta) and native white-spotted charr (Salvelinus leucomaenis) demonstrated that habitat modifications in the form of visual barriers could reduce observed levels of interspecific aggression (Hasegawa & Maekawa, 2009).

(5) Empirical validation of theoretical predictions

The formation of parapatric ranges, where two species have adjacent ranges with little or no overlap, is a key prediction of the theoretical models of how interspecific behavioural



Fig. 2. The global distribution of field studies that found an effect of interspecific behavioural interference on the spatial distribution of one or more species. Colour denotes whether the study investigated the spatial distributions across a landscape (i.e. latitude and longitude), across an elevational gradient (altitudinal), or across a sea-depth gradient (marine depth). Size indicates the maximum spatial extent for where data was collected for study but is not to scale, excluding comparative studies that had a greater than 1000 km global distribution (N= 7). Across landscapes, we found examples of behavioural interference influencing the spatial distributions of species in studies ranging in spatial scope from local (<1 km) scales [e.g. Hochkirch & Gröning (2012) found that, within a single nature reserve, reproductive interference causes two groundhopper species to exhibit a mosaic of small-scale habitat use] to continental (<1000 km) scales [e.g. Reif *et al.* (2018, 2015) found that across Eastern Europe, aggression drives shifts in habitat preferences in sympatry compared to allopatric populations of common *Luscinia megarhynchos*, and thrush nightingales, *Luscinia luscinia*].

interference impacts range dynamics when the impacts of behavioural interference are symmetrical (Ribeiro & Spielman, 1986). In line with this prediction, we found that, where the impact of behavioural interference is equal, the ranges of interacting species pairs are stable (Asensio et al., 2017; Bull & Burzacott, 1994; Thum, 2007). For instance, in Thailand, two species of gibbon, white-handed gibbons (Hylobates lar) and pileated gibbons (Hylobates pileatus), have a parapatric distribution with only a small (<1 km wide) boundary where the species are found in sympatry. Both H. lar and H. pileatus hold territories that are controlled exclusively by monogamous pairs. Detailed mapping of territories and observations of conflict events show that, where the two species are found in sympatry, pairs of both species defend territories against both conspecifics and heterospecifics (Fig. 1B; Asensio et al., 2017). If the impact of behavioural interference is asymmetrical, however, replacement of one species by the

other commonly results (Tønnesen *et al.*, 2004; Tsuchida *et al.*, 2019; Tsurui-Sato *et al.*, 2019; Duckworth & Badyaev, 2007; Vallin *et al.*, 2012; Sobroza *et al.*, 2021). Some studies found that the ranges of the two species were stable even in the presence of asymmetrical behavioural interference because the more dominant species was limited by an abiotic or a different biotic factor (Pasch *et al.*, 2013; Bergstrom, 1992).

Although Allee effects are common in theoretical models of behavioural interference, relatively few case studies identified by our literature review explicitly tested for Allee effects, although several investigators of these studies suggest that Allee effects generate range turnovers (Söderbäck 1994; Tønnesen *et al.*, 2004; Thum, 2007; Kiritani, 2011). The paucity of direct evidence for Allee effects was surprising, given documented Allee effects in laboratory studies (e.g. Kyogoku & Nishida, 2012) and frequency- and/or density-dependent impacts of interspecific interference in the field (Gómez-Llano *et al.*, 2023; Svensson *et al.*, 2018). Future research, therefore, should aim to understand the importance of Allee effects in determining the outcome of spatial dynamics. For instance, a key test of the impact of behavioural interference on range dynamics would be to induce an Allee effect artificially in field systems known to engage in behavioural interference, by heightening or inversing the densities and/or frequencies of two species that engage in behavioural interference.

Similarly, although several models incorporate both behavioural interference and resource competition (Ribeiro & Spielman, 1986; Amarasekare, 2002; Crowder *et al.*, 2011), our literature search found few explicit analyses disentangling the relative impacts of behavioural interference and resource competition, or the predicted interactive dynamics of both, on range dynamics [but see Duckworth (2013) and Cowen, Drury & Grether (2020)].

III. FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Our systematic literature review demonstrated that there are now many studies that show varied impacts of behavioural interference on range expansion, but it also highlighted several gaps in our understanding. Here, we argue that further research is needed in several key areas, including the role that behavioural interference has played in shaping historical patterns of range dynamics, the impacts of behavioural interference on future range dynamics under climate change, and the extent to which evolution influences outcomes.

(1) Identifying the impact of behavioural interference on historical spatial processes

There are several existing approaches for studying historical range dynamics that would be useful to develop further to understand outcomes of behavioural interference across a range of timescales. For instance, at a deep evolutionary timescale, models of ancestral biogeography have proved to be useful tools for making inferences about the pace and trajectory of range evolution within independently evolving lineages (Ronquist, 2011). Recently, there have been calls to extend these methods to incorporate ecological factors such as species interactions (Sukumaran & Knowles, 2018), and for the development of tools to identify the signature of competitive exclusion in range data (Quintero & Landis, 2020). Incorporating the possibility that the presence and/or magnitude of behavioural interference could modulate the impacts of competition on range dynamics into these models, similar to advances already developed for trait-mediated dispersal (Klaus & Matzke, 2020), could provide a novel tool that would make it possible to test a range of hypotheses that cannot be tested with current methods (Fig. 3A).

At shallower evolutionary scales, existing population genomic techniques leverage the signatures of historical processes preserved in genomes to test hypotheses about spatial (Peter & Slatkin, 2013; Petkova, Novembre & Stephens, 2015; Al-Asadi et al., 2019; He, Prado & Knowles, 2017) and demographic (Gutenkunst et al., 2009; Gronau et al., 2011; Excoffier et al., 2021) dynamics that have unfolded over scales of thousands to millions of years. Largely, these developments have been designed to examine dynamics within independently evolving lineages. Within this constraint, one way forward would be to conduct comparative analyses to test the hypothesis that lineages (e.g. populations, species) experiencing higher levels of behavioural interference expand their ranges at different rates than lineages experiencing little or no behavioural interference (Fig. 3B). Recently, Ortego & Knowles (2020) developed an analytical pipeline that explicitly tests for the impact of facilitation and/or competition between species on generating contemporary geographic patterns of genomic diversity. Extending these models to test explicitly for impacts of behavioural interference is an exciting possibility that would generate new insights.

On a more contemporary scale, long-term census data have proved to be a useful tool for monitoring dynamics of species assemblages over the past century (Rosenberg et al., 2019; Saunders et al., 2022). Such data sets contain interacting species, and understanding how those interactions impact temporal dynamics is one way forward. One recent attempt has shown that stably coexisting species pairs that are interspecifically territorial have increased their fine-scale habitat overlap more than non-interspecifically territorial pairs, suggesting that interspecific territoriality may actually stabilise coexistence in species that would otherwise engage in high levels of exploitative competition (Nesbit et al., 2023). Future applications could use tools developed for network analyses (Blonder et al., 2012) to examine how behavioural interference influences dynamics within assemblages (Fig. 3C).

(2) Predicting the impact of behavioural interference in novel assemblages

Insights generated from investigations of the impacts of behavioural interference on historical range dynamics will be essential for generating predictions about the future impacts of behavioural interference on climate change-driven range dynamics. At the heart of attempts to predict how species' ranges will shift in response to global changes are species distribution models (SDMs). SDMs use measures of abiotic factors and presence–absence data to predict species' future ranges under different climate scenarios (Elith & Leathwick, 2009; Titley *et al.*, 2021).

Attempts to incorporate biotic factors into species distribution models have given rise to joint species distribution models (JSDMs) (Wilkinson *et al.*, 2019; Tikhonov *et al.*, 2017). Yet implementing and validating JSDMs is fraught with difficulties because positive and negative occurrence patterns often correlate with abiotic factors (Poggiato *et al.*, 2021). Consequently, although some attempts to implement behavioural interference into SDMs/JSDMs have



Fig. 3. Possible directions for future research into the historical (A–C) and potential future (D) impacts of interspecific behavioural interference (IBI) on range dynamics. Approaches to test for historical impacts of IBI include (A) extending models of ancestral biogeography to include separate parameters for species that engage in IBI and those that do not; (B) deploying genomic tools to test whether the historical dynamics of range expansion differ between species that engage in IBI (sp. 2, in this example) and species that do not by calculating pairwise indices of directional movement such as the ψ index (Peter & Slatkin, 2013); and (C) using long-term census data to analyse how IBI has impacted the dynamics of species co-occurrence through time using tools from network analysis (e.g. indices of network centrality). Developments for forecasting and mitigating the impacts of IBI on global change-induced range shifts might include (D) fitting joint dynamic species distribution models (JDSDMs) and using model inferences to compare future ranges under pure climate-tracking scenarios to scenarios that incorporate species interactions inferred from JDSDMs.

11

been conducted (Bastianelli et al., 2017; Engler et al., 2013), many examples of interspecific behavioural interference limiting the spatial distribution of species would not be detected using JSDMs. Despite challenges, joint species distribution modelling remains an active area of research with many promising recent developments (Pichler and Hartig 2021; Escamilla Molgora et al., 2022). For instance, joint dynamic species distribution models (JDSDMs) use time-series data on abundance to examine the impact of concurrent changes in abundance across assemblages more directly (Thorson, Pinsky & Ward, 2016; Elo et al., 2023). Consequently, we imagine that these tools will be useful for generating predictive models of future range dynamics in the presence of behavioural interference (Fig. 3D), for instance by comparing the marginal predictions of such models (i.e. the effects of environmental variables only), to conditional predictions that also incorporate impacts of changing species interactions (Wilkinson et al., 2019, 2021). Recently, for instance, Novella-Fernandez et al. (2021) devised an index of 'geographic avoidance' by comparing species suitable ranges (calculated from SDMs) to their observed ranges. Using this index, they found that two pairs of cryptic species of bats in Europe exhibited spatial partitioning consistent with interspecific competition driving exclusion. They then examined range overlap under future climate projections, demonstrating that some predicted range shifts may not be possible due to predicted range overlap with competitors [Novella-Fernandez et al., 2021; see also Engler et al. (2013) and McQuillan & Rice (2015) for a similar approach]. Future attempts to generate predictions of range dynamics in the presence of behavioural interference could also be used to disentangle and quantify the differing impacts of behavioural interference versus resource competition.

The preceding approaches largely rely on metrics of co-occurrence to make inferences about the impacts of behavioural interference, under the assumption that co-occurring lineages are likely to interact. Yet, range overlap *per se* is not robust evidence that interactions occur. One way forward is to use measurements of fine-scale range overlap (i.e. 'syntopy'), which may be more indicative of the opportunity for species interactions (Drury et al., 2020). Still, there is no substitute for direct observations of behaviour across large spatiotemporal scales. For instance, a large-scale study of spatiotemporal variation in agonistic behaviour in damselfish (genus Chaetodon) shows that interactions between individuals of different species increase after coral bleaching events (Keith et al., 2023). Future studies should directly observe behaviours to demonstrate concrete links between behavioural interference and range dynamics.

(3) The role of evolution in mediating responses to behavioural interference

Historically, empirical research into behavioural interference has largely focused on understanding factors that lead to behavioural interference (e.g. Drury *et al.*, 2020; Leighton *et al.*, 2023) and its evolutionary consequences, such as its impact on trait evolution (Grether et al., 2009; Pfennig & Pfennig, 2009) or other aspects of the speciation cycle (Tobias, Ottenburghs & Pigot, 2020). This work has shown that the likelihood of behavioural interference decreases with increasing divergence time (e.g. Drury et al., 2020; Barley et al., 2022) likely owing to relative similarity in the perceptual systems and agonistic and/or mating signals used in closely related species (Grether et al., 2009; Orians & Willson, 1964). Consequently, behavioural interference is thought to have a strong impact on the rate of speciation by limiting the rate at which two recently diverged allopatric lineages can coexist in secondary sympatry (Tobias et al., 2020). One possible evolutionary outcome of behavioural interference is divergent reproductive or agonistic character displacement, in which selection acts on mating or agonistic signals or perceptual systems to prevent or reduce the occurrence of behavioural interference (Grether et al., 2009; Pfennig & Pfennig, 2009). Yet the benefits of diverging in signals and/or perceptual systems do not always outweigh the costs - for instance, because of the continued pressure of stabilising selection for intraspecific mate recognition (Drury et al., 2019) or because interspecific competitor recognition may be an adaptive pathway to interspecific resource partitioning (Grether & Okamoto, 2022) and consequently, selection may preclude divergence or even drive convergence between interacting lineages.

The evolutionary responses to behavioural interference in shifting ranges should, therefore, play an important role in determining the outcome of range dynamics. For instance, in the case of Aedes mosquitoes, reproductive character displacement appears to have slowed down the invasion of Ae. albopictus in Florida (Bargielowski, Lounibos & Carrasquilla, 2013; Bargielowski, Blosser & Lounibos, 2015). Similarly, native bumblebees in Japan have evolved polyandrous mating systems in response to reproductive interference from invasive bufftailed bumblebees (Tsuchida et al., 2019). Yet it is unknown under which circumstances, and to what extent, evolutionary changes might mediate the impact of behavioural interference on range dynamics. Future long-term studies of zones where behavioural interference occurs, in addition to comparisons between sympatric and allopatric populations, could shed further light on these questions.

IV. CONCLUSIONS

(1) Multiple lines of evidence now demonstrate that interspecific behavioural interference can limit the spatial distribution of species. Case studies demonstrate that this is true across a wide range of animal taxa, and that both reproductive interference and interspecific aggression can influence spatial dynamics.

(2) In line with predictions derived from theoretical models of behavioural interference, the case studies we compiled demonstrate that symmetry (or lack thereof) in behavioural interference determines the spatial outcome of interactions. Further work is necessary to test other key predictions of theoretical models, such as the presence of Allee effects and interactive impacts of behavioural interference and exploitative competition for resources.

(3) We identified several other gaps that remain in our broad-scale understanding of the impacts of behavioural interference on spatial dynamics. For instance, which factors (e.g. phylogenetic distance, life history, climate niche, etc.) explain variation in the presence or magnitude of the effect of behavioural interference on range dynamics?

(4) Several recent developments have paved the way for modelling the impacts of species interactions on both historical and future spatial dynamics, and future work adapting these methods to explore further the links between behavioural interference and range dynamics will be an important way forward.

(5) In addition to modelling approaches, further work aimed at quantifying the interactive effects of evolutionary change and spatial movement will be crucial for predicting the outcome of range dynamics in the presence of behavioural interference.

(6) The spatial distribution of species has implications for conservation, human health, and agriculture. Alongside other abiotic and biotic factors, our study highlights the need to include interspecific behavioural interference in predicting and managing the current and future distribution of species.

V. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Erandi Bonillas-Monge, Greg Grether, Sal Keith, and Dan Nesbit for helpful comments, and Durham University librarians for assistance. We also thank Darren Irwin and an anonymous reviewer for their additional helpful comments. C. W. P. was funded by a Durham Doctoral Studentship, and J. P. D. was funded by NSFDEB-NERC-2040883.

VI. REFERENCES

- AGUILERA, M. A. & NAVARRETE, S. A. (2012). Interspecific competition for shelters in territorial and gregarious intertidal grazers: consequences for individual behaviour. *PLoS One* 7, e46205.
- AL-ASADI, H., PETKOVA, D., STEPHENS, M. & NOVEMBRE, J. (2019). Estimating recent migration and population-size surfaces. *PLoS Genetics* 15, e1007908.
- ALEXANDER, J. M., DIEZ, J. M. & LEVINE, J. M. (2015). Novel competitors shape species' responses to climate change. *Nature* 525, 515–518.
- AMARASEKARE, P. (2002). Interference competition and species coexistence. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B 269, 2541–2550.
- ASENSIO, N., JOSÉ-DOMÍNGUEZ, J. M., KONGRIT, C. & BROCKELMAN, W. Y. (2017). The ecology of white-handed and pileated gibbons in a zone of overlap and hybridization in Thailand. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* **163**, 716–728.
- BARGIELOWSKI, I., BLOSSER, E. & LOUNIBOS, L. P. (2015). The effects of interspecific courtship on the mating success of *Aedes aegypti* and *Aedes albopictus* (Diptera: Culicidae) males. *Annals of the Entomological Society of America* 108, 513–518.
- BARGIELOWSKI, I. E. & LOUNIBOS, L. P. (2016). Satyrization and satyrizationresistance in competitive displacements of invasive mosquito species. *Insect Science* 23, 162–174.
- BARGIELOWSKI, I. E., LOUNIBOS, L. P. & CARRASQUILLA, M. C. (2013). Evolution of resistance to satyrization through reproductive character displacement in populations of invasive dengue vectors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 110, 2888–2892.

- BARLEY, A. J., NIETO-MONTES DE OCA, A., MANRÍQUEZ-MORÁN, N. L. & THOMSON, R. C. (2022). The evolutionary network of whiptail lizards reveals predictable outcomes of hybridization. *Science* 377, 773–777.
- BARTON, N. H. (1979). The dynamics of hybrid zones. Heredity 43, 341-359.
- BARTON, N. H. & HEWITT, G. M. (1989). Adaptation, speciation and hybrid zones. *Nature* 341, 497–503.
- BASTIANELLI, G., WINTLE, B. A., MARTIN, E. H., SEOANE, J. & LAIOLO, P. (2017). Species partitioning in a temperate mountain chain: segregation by habitat vs. interspecific competition. *Ecology and Evolution* 7, 2685–2696.
- BAY, L. K., JONES, G. P. & MCCORMICK, M. I. (2001). Habitat selection and aggression as determinants of spatial segregation among damselfish on a coral reef. *Coral Reefs* 20, 289–298.
- BERGSTROM, B. J. (1992). Parapatry and encounter competition between chipmunk (*Tamias*) species and the hypothesized role of parasitism. *American Midland Naturalist* **128**, 168.
- BIZWELL, E. A. & MATTINGLY, H. T. (2010). Aggressive interactions of the endangered Nashville crayfish, Orconectes shoupi. Southeastern Naturalist 9, 359–372.
- BLACKBURN, T. M., PYSEK, P., BACHER, S., CARLTON, J. T., DUNCAN, R. P., JAROSÍK, V., WILSON, J. R. & RICHARDSON, D. M. (2011). A proposed unified framework for biological invasions. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 26, 333–339.
- BLOIS, J. L., ZARNETSKE, P. L., FITZPATRICK, M. C. & FINNEGAN, S. (2013). Climate change and the past, present, and future of biotic interactions. *Science* 341, 499–504.
- BLONDER, B., WEY, T. W., DORNHAUS, A., JAMES, R. & SIH, A. (2012). Temporal dynamics and network analysis. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 3, 958–972.
- BOLGER, D. T. & CASE, T. J. (1992). Intra- and interspecific interference behaviour among sexual and asexual geckos. *Animal Behaviour* 44, 21–30.
- BOURNEZ, L., CANGI, N., LANCELOT, R., PLEYDELL, D. R. J., STACHURSKI, F., BOUYER, J., MARTINEZ, D., LEFRANÇOIS, T., NEVES, L. & PRADEL, J. (2015). Parapatric distribution and sexual competition between two tick species, *Amblyomma variegatum* and *A. hebraeum* (Acari, Ixodidae), in Mozambique. *Parasites* and Vectors 8, 1–14.
- BOYCE, A. J. & MARTIN, T. E. (2019). Interspecific aggression among parapatric and sympatric songbirds on a tropical elevational gradient. *Behavioral Ecology* 30, 541–547.
- BRONSON, C. L., GRUBB, T. C., SATTLER, G. D. & BRAUN, M. J. (2003). Mate preference: a possible causal mechanism for a moving hybrid zone. *Animal Behaviour* 65, 489–500.
- BUBB, D. H., O'MALLEY, O. J., GOODERHAM, A. C. & LUCAS, M. C. (2009). Relative impacts of native and non-native crayfish on shelter use by an indigenous benthic fish. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 19, 448–455.
- BUGGS, R. (2007). Empirical study of hybrid zone movement. Heredity 99, 301-312.
- BULL, C. M. & BURZACOTT, D. (1994). Reproductive interactions between two Australian reptile tick species. *Experimental and Applied Acarology* 18, 555–565.
- BURDFIELD-STEEL, E. R. & SHUKER, D. M. (2011). Reproductive interference. Current Biology 21, R450–R451.
- BURNER, R. C., BOYCE, A. J., BERNASCONI, D., STYRING, A. R., SHAKYA, S. B., BOER, C., RAHMAN, M. A., MARTIN, T. E. & SHELDON, F. H. (2020). Biotic interactions help explain variation in elevational range limits of birds among Bornean mountains. *Journal of Biogeography* 47, 760-771.
- BUTLER, M. J. & STEIN, R. A. (1985). An analysis of the mechanisms governing species replacements in crayfish. *Oecologia* 66, 168–177.
- CASE, T. J., BOLGER, D. T. & PETREN, K. (1994). Invasions and competitive displacement among house geckos in the tropical Pacific. *Ecology* 75, 464–477.
- CASE, T. J. & GILPIN, M. E. (1974). Interference competition and niche theory. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 71, 3073–3077.
- CHAPPELL, M. A. (1978). Behavioral factors in the altitudinal zonation of chipmunks (*Eutamias*). *Ecology* 59, 565–579.
- CISTERNE, A., SCHWARZKOPF, L. & PIKE, D. A. (2019). Australian house geckos are more aggressive than a globally successful invasive Asian house gecko. *Behavioral Ecology* **30**, 107–113.
- COWEN, M. C., DRURY, J. P. & GRETHER, G. F. (2020). Multiple routes to interspecific territoriality in sister species of North American perching birds. *Evolution* 74, 2134–2148.
- CROWDER, D. W., HOROWITZ, A. R., BRESLAUER, H., RIPPA, M., KONTSEDALOV, S., GHANIM, M. & CARRIÈRE, Y. (2011). Niche partitioning and stochastic processes shape community structure following whitefly invasions. *Basic* and Applied Ecology 12, 685–694.
- CULUMBER, Z. W., ANAYA-ROJAS, J. M., BOOKER, W. W., HOOKS, A. P., LANGE, E. C., PLUER, B., RAMÍREZ-BULLÓN, N. & TRAVIS, J. (2019). Widespread biases in ecological and evolutionary studies. *BioScience* 69, 631–640.
- DAME, E. A. & PETREN, K. (2006). Behavioural mechanisms of invasion and displacement in Pacific Island geckos (*Hemidactylus*). Animal Behaviour 71, 1165–1173.
- DORKOVÁ, M., KRISTÍN, A., JARCUSKA, B. & KAŇUCH, P. (2020). The mosaic distribution pattern of two sister bush-cricket species and the possible role of reproductive interference. *Ecology and Evolution* 10, 2570–2578.
- DRURY, J. P., ANDERSON, C. N., CASTILLO, M. B. C., FISHER, J., MCEACHIN, S. & GRETHER, G. F. (2019). A general explanation for the persistence of reproductive interference. *American Naturalist* **194**, 268–275.

- DRURY, J. P., COWEN, M. C. & GRETHER, G. F. (2020). Competition and hybridization drive interspecific territoriality in birds. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 117, 12923–12930.
- DRURY, J. P., OKAMOTO, K. W., ANDERSON, C. N. & GRETHER, G. F. (2015). Reproductive interference explains persistence of aggression between species. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 282, 20142256.
- DUCKWORTH, R. A. (2013). Human-induced changes in the dynamics of species coexistence: an example with two sister species. In *Avian Urban Ecology*. Oxford University Press, Oxford (UK).
- DUCKWORTH, R. A. & BADYAEV, A. V. (2007). Coupling of dispersal and aggression facilitates the rapid range expansion of a passerine bird. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **104**, 15017–15022.
- DUCKWORTH, R. A., BELLONI, V. & ANDERSON, S. R. (2015). Cycles of species replacement emerge from locally induced maternal effects on offspring behavior in a passerine bird. *Science* 347, 875–877.
- EARLY, R. & KEITH, S. A. (2019). Geographically variable biotic interactions and implications for species ranges. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 28, 42–53.
- ELITH, J. & LEATHWICK, J. R. (2009). Species distribution models: ecological explanation and prediction across space and time. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution,* and Systematics 40, 677–697.
- ELO, M., KAJANUS, M. H., TOLVANEN, J., DEVICTOR, V., FORSMAN, J. T., LEHIKOINEN, A., MÖNKKÖNEN, M., THORSON, J. T., VOLLSTÄDT, M. G. R. & KIVELÄ, S. M. (2023). Do large-scale associations in birds imply biotic interactions or environmental filtering? *Journal of Biogeography* 50, 169–182.
- ENGLER, J. O., RÖDDER, D., ELLE, O., HOCHKIRCH, A. & SECONDI, J. (2013). Species distribution models contribute to determine the effect of climate and interspecific interactions in moving hybrid zones. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* 26, 2487–2496.
- ERLINGE, S. & SANDELL, M. (1988). Coexistence of stoat, *Mustela eminea*, and weasel, *M. nivalis*: social dominance, scent communication, and reciprocal distribution. *Oikos* 53, 242–246.
- ESCAMILLA MOLGORA, J. M., SEDDA, L., DIGGLE, P. & ATKINSON, P. M. (2022). A joint distribution framework to improve presence-only species distribution models by exploiting opportunistic surveys. *Journal of Biogeography* **49**, 1176–1192.
- EURICH, J. G., MCCORMICK, M. I. & JONES, G. P. (2018). Direct and indirect effects of interspecific competition in a highly partitioned guild of reef fishes. *Ecosphere* 9, e02389.
- EXCOFFIER, L., MARCHI, N., MARQUES, D. A., MATTHEY-DORET, R., GOUY, A. & SOUSA, V. C. (2021). Fastsimcoal2: demographic inference under complex evolutionary scenarios. *Bioinformatics* 37, 4882–4885.
- FERRETTI, F. & MORI, E. (2020). Displacement interference between wild ungulate species: does it occur? *Ethology Ecology & Evolution* 32, 2–15.
- FREEMAN, B. G. (2020). Lower elevation animal species do not tend to be better competitors than their higher elevation relatives. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 29, 171–181.
- FREEMAN, B. G., CLASS FREEMAN, A. M. & HOCHACHKA, W. M. (2016). Asymmetric interspecific aggression in New Guinean songbirds that replace one another along an elevational gradient. *Ibis* 158, 726–737.
- FREEMAN, B. G. & MONTGOMERY, G. (2015). Interspecific aggression by the Swainson's Thrush (*Catharus ustulatus*) may limit the distribution of the threatened Bicknell's Thrush (*Catharus bicknelli*) in the Adirondack Mountains. *Condor* 118, 169–178.
- FREEMAN, B. G., SCHOLER, M. N., RUIZ-GUTIERREZ, V. & FITZPATRICK, J. W. (2018). Climate change causes upslope shifts and mountaintop extirpations in a tropical bird community. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 115, 11982–11987.
- FRESHWATER, C., GHALAMBOR, C. K. & MARTIN, P. R. (2014). Repeated patterns of trait divergence between closely related dominant and subordinate bird species. *Ecology* 95, 2334–2345.
- GIFFORD, M. E. & KOZAK, K. H. (2012). Islands in the sky or squeezed at the top? Ecological causes of elevational range limits in montane salamanders. *Ecography* 35, 193–203.
- GÓMEZ-LLANO, M., BOYS, W. A., PING, T., TYE, S. P. & SIEPIELSKI, A. M. (2023). Interactions between fitness components across the life cycle constrain competitor coexistence. *Journal of Animal Ecology* **00**, 1–12.
- GRETHER, G. F., DRURY, J. P., OKAMOTO, K. W., MCEACHIN, S. & ANDERSON, C. N. (2020). Predicting evolutionary responses to interspecific interference in the wild. *Ecology Letters* 23, 221–230.
- GRETHER, G. F., LOSIN, N., ANDERSON, C. N. & OKAMOTO, K. (2009). The role of interspecific interference competition in character displacement and the evolution of competitor recognition. *Biological Reviews* 84, 617–635.
- GRETHER, G. F. & OKAMOTO, K. W. (2022). Eco-evolutionary dynamics of interference competition. *Ecology Letters* 25, 2167–2176.
- GRETHER, G. F., PEIMAN, K. S., TOBIAS, J. A. & ROBINSON, B. W. B. W. (2017). Causes and consequences of behavioral interference between species. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 32, 760–772.

- GRONAU, I., HUBISZ, M. J., GULKO, B., DANKO, C. G. & SIEPEL, A. (2011). Bayesian inference of ancient human demography from individual genome sequences. *Nature Genetics* 43, 1031–1035.
- GRÖNING, J. & HOCHKIRCH, A. (2008). Reproductive interference between animal species. *Quarterly Review of Biology* 83, 257–282.
- GRÖNING, J., LÜCKE, N., FINGER, A. & HOCHKIRCH, A. (2007). Reproductive interference in two ground-hopper species: testing hypotheses of coexistence in the field. *Oikos* 116, 1449–1460.
- GUTENKUNST, R. N., HERNANDEZ, R. D., WILLIAMSON, S. H. & BUSTAMANTE, C. D. (2009). Inferring the joint demographic history of multiple populations from multidimensional SNP frequency data. *PLoS Genetics* 5, e1000695.
- GUTIÉRREZ, R. J., CODY, M., COURTNEY, S. & FRANKLIN, A. B. (2007). The invasion of barred owls and its potential effect on the spotted owl: a conservation conundrum. *Biological Invasions* **9**, 181–196.
- HAERING, R. & FOX, B. J. (1987). Short-term coexistence and long-term competitive displacement of two dominant species of *Iridomyrmex*: the successional response of ants to regenerating habitats. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 56, 495–507.
- HAIRSTON, N. G., NISHIKAWA, K. C. & STENHOUSE, S. L. (1987). The evolution of competing species of terrestrial salamanders: niche partitioning or interference? *Evolutionary Ecology* 1, 247–262.
- HASEGAWA, K. & MAEKAWA, K. (2009). Role of visual barriers on mitigation of interspecific interference competition between native and non-native salmonid species. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 87, 781–786.
- HASEGAWA, K., YAMAMOTO, T., MURAKAMI, M. & MAEKAWA, K. (2004). Comparison of competitive ability between native and introduced salmonids: evidence from pairwise contests. *Ichthyological Research* 51, 191–194.
- HE, Q., PRADO, J. R. & KNOWLES, L. L. (2017). Inferring the geographic origin of a range expansion: latitudinal and longitudinal coordinates inferred from genomic data in an ABC framework with the program x-origin. *Molecular Ecology* 26, 6908– 6920.
- HELLER, H. C. (1971). Altitudinal zonation of chipmunks (*Eutamias*): interspecific aggression, water balance, and energy budgets. PhD Thesis: Yale University.
- HERNÁNDEZ-BRITO, D., CARRETE, M., POPA-LISSEANU, A. G., IBÁÑEZ, C. & TELLA, J. L. (2014). Crowding in the city: losing and winning competitors of an invasive bird. *PLoS One* 9, e100593.
- HOCHKIRCH, A. & GRÖNING, J. (2012). Niche overlap in allotopic and syntopic populations of sexually interacting ground-hopper species. *Insect Science* 19, 391–402.
- HOCHKIRCH, A., GRÖNING, J. & BÜCKER, A. (2007). Sympatry with the devil: reproductive interference could hamper species coexistence. *Journal of Animal Ecology* **76**, 633–642.
- HOUSER, J. D., GINSBERG, H. & JAKOB, E. M. (2014). Competition between introduced and native spiders (Araneae: Linyphiidae). *Biological Invasions* **16**, 2479– 2488.
- IRITANI, R. & NORIYUKI, S. (2021). Reproductive interference hampers species coexistence despite conspecific sperm precedence. *Ecology and Evolution* 11, 1957– 1969.
- IRWIN, D. & SCHLUTER, D. (2022). Hybridization and the coexistence of species. *The American Naturalist* 200, E93–E109.
- JANKOWSKI, J. E., ROBINSON, S. K. & LEVEY, D. J. (2010). Squeezed at the top: interspecific aggression may constrain elevational ranges in tropical birds. *Ecology* 91, 1877–1884.
- JONES, S. E. I., TOBIAS, J. A., FREEMAN, R. & PORTUGAL, S. J. (2020). Weak asymmetric interspecific aggression and divergent habitat preferences at an elevational contact zone between tropical songbirds. *Ibis* 162, 814–826.
- KEITH, S., HOBBS, J. A., BOSTRÖM-EINARSSON, L., HARTLEY, I. & SANDERS, N. (2023). Rapid resource depletion on coral reefs disrupts competitor recognition processes among butterflyfish species. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B* 290, 20222158.
- KIRITANI, K. (2011). Impacts of global warming on Nezara viridula and its native congeneric species. Journal of Asia-Pacific Entomology 14, 221–226.
- KISHI, S. & NAKAZAWA, T. (2013). Analysis of species coexistence co-mediated by resource competition and reproductive interference. *Population Ecology* 55, 305–313.
- KLAUS, K. V. & MATZKE, N. J. (2020). Statistical comparison of trait-dependent biogeographical models indicates that Podocarpaceae dispersal is influenced by both seed cone traits and geographical distance. *Systematic Biology* 69, 61–75.
- KUNO, E. (1992). Competitive exclusion through reproductive interference. *Researches on Population Ecology* 34, 275–284.
- KYOGOKU, D. & NISHIDA, T. (2012). The presence of heterospecific males causes an Allee effect. *Population Ecology* 54, 391–395.
- KYOGOKU, D. & SOTA, T. (2017). A generalized population dynamics model for reproductive interference with absolute density dependence. *Scientific Reports* 7, 1–8. LARSON, R. J. (1980). Competition, habitat selection, and the bathymetric segregation
- of two rockfish (*Sebastes*) species. *Ecological Monographs* **50**, 221–239. LEGAULT, G., BITTERS, M. E., HASTINGS, A. & MELBOURNE, B. A. (2020).
- Interspecific competition slows range expansion and shapes range boundaries. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 117, 26854– 26860.

- LEIGHTON, G. M., LAMOUR, D., MALCOLM, K. & MILLER, E. T. (2023). Both morphological and behavioral traits predict interspecific social dominance in birds. *Journal of Ornithology* 164, 163–169.
- LEPONCE, M., ROISIN, Y. & PASTEELS, J. (1997). Structure and dynamics of the arboreal termite community in New Guinean coconut plantations. *Tropical Biology* 29, 193–203.
- LILL, A. & MUSCAT, I. (2015). Importance of inherent suitability, behavioural flexibility and competitiveness in occupancy of urban parks by an endemic honeycater. *Avian Biology Research* 8, 227–236.
- LIOU, L. W. & PRICE, T. D. (1994). Speciation by reinforcement of premating isolation. *Evolution* 48, 1451–1459.
- LIU, S.-S., DE BARRO, P. J., XU, J., LUAN, J.-B., ZANG, L.-S., RUAN, Y.-M. & WAN, F.-H. (2007). Asymmetric mating interactions drive widespread invasion and displacement in a whitefly. *Science* **318**, 1769–1772.
- LOUNIBOS, L. P. & JULIANO, S. A. (2018). Where vectors collide: the importance of mechanisms shaping the realized niche for modeling ranges of invasive Aedes mosquitoes. *Biological Imasions* 20, 1913–1929.
- LOUTHAN, A. M., DOAK, D. F. & ANGERT, A. L. (2015). Where and when do species interactions set range limits? *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 30, 780–792.
- MAC NALLY, R., BOWEN, M., HOWES, A., MCALPINE, C. A. & MARON, M. (2012). Despotic, high-impact species and the subcontinental scale control of avian assemblage structure. *Ecology* 93, 668–678.
- MALDONADO-COELHO, M., MARINI, M. Â., DO AMARAL, F. R. & RIBON, R. (2017). The invasive species rules: competitive exclusion in forest avian mixed-species flocks in a fragmented landscape. *Revista Brasileira de Ornitologia* 25, 54–59.
- MARTIN, P. R. & BONIER, F. (2018). Species interactions limit the occurrence of urban-adapted birds in cities. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 115, E11495–E11504.
- MARTIN, P. R., BURKE, K. W. & BONIER, F. (2021). Plasticity versus evolutionary divergence: what causes habitat partitioning in urban-adapted birds? *The American Naturalist* 197, 60–74.
- MCEACHIN, S., DRURY, J. P., ANDERSON, C. N. & GRETHER, G. F. (2022). Mechanisms of reduced interspecific interference between territorial species. *Behavioral Ecology* 33, 126–136.
- MCLAIN, D. K. & SHURE, D. J. (1987). Pseudocompetition: interspecific displacement of insect species through misdirected courtship. Oikos 49, 291–296.
- MCQUILLAN, M. A. & RICE, A. M. (2015). Differential effects of climate and species interactions on range limits at a hybrid zone: potential direct and indirect impacts of climate change. *Ecology and Evolution* 5, 5120–5137.
- MIKAMI, O. K. & KAWATA, M. (2004). Does interspecific territoriality reflect the intensity of ecological interactions? A theoretical model for interspecific territoriality. *Evolutionary Ecology Research* 6, 765–775.
- MOTTL, O., YOMBAI, J., NOVOTNÝ, V., LEPONCE, M., WEIBLEN, G. D. & KLIMES, P. (2021). Inter-specific aggression generates ant mosaics in canopies of primary tropical rainforest. *Oikos* 130, 1087–1099.
- NASCI, R. S., HARE, S. G. & WILLIS, F. S. (1989). Interspecific mating between Louisiana strains of Aedes albopictus and Aedes aegypti in the field and laboratory. *Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association* 5, 416–421.
- NESBIT, D. A., COWEN, M. C., GRETHER, G. F. & DRURY, J. P. (2023). Interspecific territoriality has facilitated recent increases in the breeding habitat overlap of North American passerines. *Ecography* 2023, e06573.
- NISHIDA, T., TAKAKURA, K. & IWAO, K. (2015). Host specialization by reproductive interference between closely related herbivorous insects. *Population Ecology* 57, 273–281.
- NOVELLA-FERNANDEZ, R., JUSTE, J., IBÁÑEZ, C., REBELO, H., RUSSO, D., ALBERDI, A., KIEFER, A., GRAHAM, L., PAUL, H., DONCASTER, C. P. & RAZGOUR, O. (2021). Broad-scale patterns of geographic avoidance between species emerge in the absence of fine-scale mechanisms of coexistence. *Diversity and Distributions* 27, 1606–1618.
- OCKENDON, N., BAKER, D. J., CARR, J. A., WHITE, E. C., ALMOND, R. E. A., AMANO, T., BERTRAM, E., BRADBURY, R. B., BRADLEY, C., BUTCHART, S. H. M., DOSWALD, N., FODEN, W., GILL, D. J. C., GREEN, R. E., SUTHERLAND, W. J., *ET AL.* (2014). Mechanisms underpinning climatic impacts on natural populations: altered species interactions are more important than direct effects. *Global Change Biology* 20, 2221–2229.
- ORIANS, G. & WILLSON, M. (1964). Interspecific territories of birds. *Ecology* 45, 736–745.
- ORTEGO, J. & KNOWLES, L. L. (2020). Incorporating interspecific interactions into phylogeographic models: a case study with Californian oaks. *Molecular Ecology* 29, 4510–4524.
- PAINE, R. T. (1966). Food web complexity and species diversity. *The American Naturalist* 100, 65–75.
- PARMESAN, C. & YOHE, G. (2003). A globally coherent fingerprint of climate change impacts across natural systems. *Nature* 421, 37–42.
- PASCH, B., BOLKER, B. M. & PHELPS, S. M. (2013). Interspecific dominance via vocal interactions mediates altitudinal zonation in neotropical singing mice. *American Naturalist* 182, E161–E173.

- PAYNE, R. B. (1980). Behavior and songs of hybrid parasitic finches. The Auk 97, 118–134.
- PEARSON, S. F. (2000). Behavioral asymmetries in a moving hybrid zone. *Behavioral Ecology* 11, 84–92.
- PEARSON, S. F. & ROHWER, S. (2000). Asymmetries in male aggression across an avian hybrid zone. *Behavioral Ecology* 11, 93–101.
- PEIMAN, K. S. & ROBINSON, B. W. (2010). Ecology and evolution of resource-related heterospecific aggression. *Quarterly Review of Biology* 85, 133–158.
- PERDEREAU, E., DEDEINE, F., CHRISTIDÈS, J.-P., DUPONT, S. & BAGNÈRES, A.-G. (2011). Competition between invasive and indigenous species: an insular case study of subterranean termites. *Biological Invasions* 13, 1457–1470.
- PEREIRA, P. F., LOURENÇO, R. & MOTA, P. G. (2020). Two songbird species show subordinate responses to simulated territorial intrusions of an exotic competitor. *Acta Ethologica* 23, 143–154.
- PETER, B. M. & SLATKIN, M. (2013). Detecting range expansions from genetic data. Evolution 67, 3274–3289.
- PETKOVA, D., NOVEMBRE, J. & STEPHENS, M. (2015). Visualizing spatial population structure with estimated effective migration surfaces. *Nature Genetics* 48, 94–100.
- PETREN, K., BOLGER, D. T. & CASE, T. J. (1993). Mechanisms in the competitive success of an invading sexual gecko over an asexual native. *Science* 259, 354–358.
- PFENNIG, K. S. & PFENNIG, D. W. (2009). Character displacement: ecological and reproductive responses to a common evolutionary problem. *Quarterly Review of Biology* 84, 253–276.
- PICHLER, M. & HARTIG, F. (2021). A new joint species distribution model for faster and more accurate inference of species associations from big community data. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 12, 2159–2173.
- POGGIATO, G., MÜNKEMÜLLER, T., BYSTROVA, D., ARBEL, J., CLARK, J. S. & THUILLER, W. (2021). On the interpretations of joint modeling in community ecology. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 36, 391–401.
- QUINTERO, I. & LANDIS, M. J. (2020). Interdependent phenotypic and biogeographic evolution driven by biotic interactions. Systematic Biology 69, 739–755.
- REIF, J., JIRAN, M., REIFOVÁ, R., VOKURKOVÁ, J., DOLATA, P. T., PETRUSEK, A. & PETRUSKOVÁ, T. (2015). Interspecific territoriality in two songbird species: potential role of song convergence in male aggressive interactions. *Animal Behaviour* 104, 131–136.
- REIF, J., REIFOVÁ, R., SKORACKA, A. & KUCZYŃSKI, L. (2018). Competition-driven niche segregation on a landscape scale: evidence for escaping from syntopy towards allotopy in two coexisting sibling passerine species. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 87, 774–789.
- RIBEIRO, J. M. C. & SPIELMAN, A. (1986). The satyr effect: a model predicting parapatry and species extinction. *American Naturalist* **128**, 513–528.
- ROBINSON, D. (1992). Habitat use and foraging behaviour of the scarlet robin and the flame robin at a site of breeding-season sympatry. *Wildlife Research* **19**, 377–395.
- ROLANDO, A. & PALESTRINI, C. (1989). Habitat selection and interspecific territoriality in sympatric warblers at two Italian marshland areas. *Ethology Ecology & Ecolution* 1, 169–183.
- RONQUIST, F. (2011). Phylogenetic methods in historical biogeography. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 42, 441–464.
- ROSENBERG, K. V., DOKTER, A. M., BLANCHER, P. J., SAUER, J. R., SMITH, A. C., SMITH, P. A., STANTON, J. C., PANJABI, A., HELFT, L., PARR, M. & MARRA, P. P. (2019). Decline of the North American avifauna. *Science* **366**, 120–124.
- ROWLES, A. D. & O'DOWD, D. J. (2007). Interference competition by Argentine ants displaces native ants: implications for biotic resistance to invasion. *Biological Invasions* 9, 73–85.
- RUOKOLAINEN, L. & HANSKI, I. (2016). Stable coexistence of ecologically identical species: conspecific aggregation via reproductive interference. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 85, 638–647.
- RYBINSKI, J., SIRKIÄ, P. M., MCFARLANE, S. E., VALLIN, N., WHEATCROFT, D., ÅLUND, M. & QVARNSTRÖM, A. (2016). Competition-driven build-up of habitat isolation and selection favoring modified dispersal patterns in a young avian hybrid zone. *Evolution* **70**, 2226–2238.
- SAUNDERS, S. P., MEEHAN, T. D., MICHEL, N. L., BATEMAN, B. L., DELUCA, W., DEPPE, J. L., GRAND, J., LEBARON, G. S., TAYLOR, L., WESTERKAM, H., WU, J. X. & WILSEY, C. B. (2022). Unraveling a century of global change impacts on winter bird distributions in the eastern United States. *Global Change Biology* 28, 2221–2235.
- SAVIDGE, J. A. (1987). Extinction of an Island forest avifauna by an introduced snake. *Ecology* 68, 660–668.
- SEKERCIOGLU, C. H., SCHNEIDER, S. H., FAY, J. P. & LOARIE, S. R. (2008). Climate change, elevational range shifts, and bird extinctions. *Conservation Biology* 22, 140–150.
- SIRÉN, A. P. K. & MORELLI, T. L. (2020). Interactive range-limit theory (iRLT): an extension for predicting range shifts. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 89, 940–954.
- SOBROZA, T. V., GORDO, M., BARNETT, A. P. A., BOUBLI, J. P. & SPIRONELLO, W. R. (2021). Parapatric pied and red-handed tamarin responses to congeneric and conspecific calls. *Acta Oecologica* **110**, 103688.

Biological Reviews (2023) 000-000 © 2023 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

- SÖDERBÄCK, B. (1994). Interactions among juveniles of two freshwater crayfish species and a predatory fish. *Oecologia* **100**, 229–235.
- SÖDERBÄCK, B. (1995). Replacement of the native crayfish Astacus astacus by the introduced species Pacifastacus leniusculus in a Swedish lake – possible causes and mechanisms. Freshwater Biology 33, 291–304.
- SORJONEN, J. (1986). Mixed singing and interspecific territoriality consequences of secondary contact of two ecologically and morphologically similar nightingale species in Europe. Ornis Scandinavica (Scandinavian Journal of Ornithology) 17, 53–67.
- SULUMARAN, J. & KNOWLES, L. L. (2018). Trait-dependent biogeography: (re) integrating biology into probabilistic historical biogeographical models. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 33, 390–398.
- SUTHERST, R. W. (1987). The dynamics of hybrid zones between tick (Acan) species. International Journal for Parasitology 17, 921–926.
- SUWANVECHO, U. & BROCKELMAN, W. Y. (2012). Interspecific territoriality in gibbons (*Hylobates lar* and *H. pileatus*) and its effects on the dynamics of interspecies contact zones. *Primates* 53, 97–108.
- SVÄRDSON, G., FÜRST, M. & FJÄLLING, A. (1991). Population resilience of *Pacifastacus leniusculus* in Sweden. *Finnish Fisheries Research* 12, 165–177.
- SVENNING, J. C., GRAVEL, D., HOLT, R. D., SCHURR, F. M., THUILLER, W., MÜNKEMÜLLER, T., SCHIFFERS, K. H., DULLINGER, S., EDWARDS, T. C., HICKLER, T., HIGGINS, S. I., NABEL, J. E. M. S., PAGEL, J. & NORMAND, S. (2014). The influence of interspecific interactions on species range expansion rates. *Ecography* 37, 1198–1209.
- SVENSSON, E. I., GÓMEZ-LLANO, M. A., TORRES, A. R. & BENSCH, H. M. (2018). Frequency dependence and ecological drift shape coexistence of species with similar niches. *The American Naturalist* **191**, 691–703.
- TAKAMI, T., YOSHIHARA, T., MIYAKOSHI, Y. & KUWABARA, R. (2002). Replacement of white-spotted charr Salvelinus leucomaenis by brown trout Salmo trutta in a branch of the Chitose River, Hokkaido [Japan]. Bulletin of the Japanese Society of Scientific Fisheries 68, 24–28.
- THORSON, J. T., PINSKY, M. L. & WARD, E. J. (2016). Model-based inference for estimating shifts in species distribution, area occupied and centre of gravity. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* **7**, 990–1002.
- THUM, R. A. (2007). Reproductive interference, priority effects and the maintenance of parapatry in *Skistodiaptomus* copepods. *Oikos* 116, 759–768.
- TIKHONOV, G., ABREGO, N., DUNSON, D. & OVASKAINEN, O. (2017). Using joint species distribution models for evaluating how species-to-species associations depend on the environmental context. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 8, 443–452.
- TITLEY, M. A., BUTCHART, S. H., JONES, V. R., WHITTINGHAM, M. J. & WILLIS, S. G. (2021). Global inequities and political borders challenge nature conservation under climate change. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 118, e2011204118.
- TOBIAS, J. A., OTTENBURGHS, J. & PIGOT, A. L. (2020). Avian diversity: speciation, macroevolution, and ecological function. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 51, 533–560.
- TØNNESEN, M. H., PENZHORN, B. L., BRYSON, N. R., STOLTSZ, W. H. & MASIBIGIRI, T. (2004). Displacement of Boophilus decoloratus by Boophilus microplus in the Soutpansberg region, Limpopo Province, South Africa. Experimental and Applied Acarology 32, 199–208.
- TROMBULAK, S. C. (1985). The influence of interspecific competition on home range size in chipmunks (*Eutamias*). *Journal of Manunalogy* 66, 329–337.
- TSUCHIDA, K., YAMAGUCHI, A., KANBE, Y. & GOKA, K. (2019). Reproductive interference in an introduced bumblebee: polyandry may mitigate negative reproductive impact. *Insects* 10, 59.

(Received 27 February 2023; revised 8 June 2023; accepted 12 June 2023)

- TSURUI-SATO, K., FUJIMOTO, S., DEKI, O., SUZUKI, T., TATSUTA, H. & TSUJI, K. (2019). Reproductive interference in live-bearing fish: the male guppy is a potential biological agent for eradicating invasive mosquitofish. *Scientific Reports* **2019**(9), 1–9.
- VALLIN, N., RICE, A. M., ARNTSEN, H., KULMA, K. & QVARNSTRÖM, A. (2012). Combined effects of interspecific competition and hybridization impede local coexistence of *Ficedula* flycatchers. *Evolutionary Ecology* 26, 927–942.
- VAN LANEN, N. J., FRANKLIN, A. B., HUYVAERT, K. P., REISER, R. F. & CARLSON, P. C. (2011). Who hits and hoots at whom? Potential for interference competition between barred and northern spotted owls. *Biological Conservation* 144, 2194–2201.
- WANG, P., CROWDER, D. W. & LIU, S. S. (2012). Roles of mating behavioural interactions and life history traits in the competition between alien and indigenous whiteflies. *Bulletin of Entomological Research* 102, 395–405.
- WESTMAN, K. & SAVOLAINEN, R. (2001). Long term study of competition between two co-occurring crayfish species, the native Astacus astacus L and the introduced Pacifastacus leniusculus dana, in a Finnish lake. Bulletin Français de la Pêche et de la Pisciculture 361, 613–627.
- WESTMAN, K., SAVOLAINEN, R. & JULKUNEN, M. (2002). Replacement of the native crayfish Astacus astacus by the introduced species Pacifastacus leniusculus in a small, enclosed Finnish lake: a 30-year study. Ecography 25, 53–73.
- WIENS, J. D., ANTHONY, R. G. & FORSMAN, E. D. (2014). Competitive interactions and resource partitioning between northern spotted owls and barred owls in western Oregon. *Wildlife Monographs* 185, 1–50.
- WILKINSON, D. P., GOLDING, N., GUILLERA-ARROITA, G., TINGLEY, R. & MCCARTHY, M. A. (2019). A comparison of joint species distribution models for presence–absence data. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* **10**, 198–211.
- WILKINSON, D. P., GOLDING, N., GUILLERA-ARROITA, G., TINGLEY, R. & MCCARTHY, M. A. (2021). Defining and evaluating predictions of joint species distribution models. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* **12**, 394–404.
- ZAGAR, A., CARRETERO, M. A., OSOJNIK, N., SILLERO, N. & VREZEC, A. (2015). A place in the sun: interspecific interference affects thermoregulation in coexisting lizards. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 69, 1127–1137.
- ZHOU, J., LIU, S., LIU, H., XIE, Z., LIU, L., LIN, L., JIANG, J., YANG, M., ZHOU, G., GU, J., ZHOU, X., YAN, G., JAMES, A. A. & CHEN, X.-G. (2022). Interspecific mating bias may drive Aedes albopictus displacement of Aedes aegypti during its range expansion. PNAS Nexus 1, pgac041.

VII. SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of the article.

Table S1. The 54 study systems identified during the literature review that found clear evidence that interspecific behavioural interference (IBI) impacts the spatial distribution of a species.